# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI 2010-CA-00881

STACEY PICKERING in his capacity as Auditor for the State of Mississippi

**APPELLANT** 

v.

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL, ex rel STATE OF MISSISSIPPI and MICROSOFT CORPORATION

**APPELLEES** 

### APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

HARRIS JERNIGAN & GENO, PLLC Arthur F. Jernigan Samuel L. Anderson 587 Highland Colony Parkway (39157) Post Office Box 3380 Ridgeland, Mississippi 39158-3380 Phone (601) 427-0048 Facsimile (601) 427-0050 ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI 2010-CA-00881

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- Whether the payment of funds directly to special counsel for the Attorney General from the opposing party in a settlement with the taxpayers of the State of Mississippi was illegal under Mississippi Code Ann. § 7-5-7?
- Whether the payment of funds to special counsel for the Attorney General directly from the opposing party in a settlement with the taxpayers of the State of Mississippi was a violation of the Mississippi Constitution and the separation of powers doctrine?
- Whether the case of *Pursue Energy Corporation v. Mississippi State Tax Commission*, 816 So.2d 385 (Miss. 2002) prohibited the diversion of funds directly to these special assistant attorney generals from the opposing party during the settlement with the State of Mississippi?
- Whether special counsel's receipt of funds directly from the opposing party in a settlement with the State of Mississippi violated their applicable retention agreement with the Attorney General?
- Whether special counsel were permitted to negotiate directly with an opposing party during settlement discussions on their own personal behalf regarding the amount of their own attorneys' fees and costs to be received as a result of the settlement?
- Whether the Attorney General's authority regarding the source of payment for his special assistants has been limited by Miss. Code Ann. § 7-5-7?
- 7) Whether the payments from Microsoft were tendered as the result of a judgment of liability for civil penalties?

- Whether there are provisions within the Microsoft Settlement Agreement and/or applicable Retention Agreements that are illegal under Miss. Code Ann. §§ 7-5-1 et al., and therefore, void as a matter of public policy?
- 9) Whether the reasonableness of the fees paid to special counsel is an inherent issue to be determined by the Mississippi Legislature during the appropriations process mandated by Miss. Code Ann. § 7-5-7?

### STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

This case concerns the legality of private outside counsel's receipt of a portion of state settlement funds from an opposing party while representing the State of Mississippi. On June 11, 2009, the State of Mississippi entered into a "Settlement Agreement" with Microsoft Corporation (hereinafter "Microsoft Settlement Agreement"), to resolve a cause of action concerning the sale of certain software products in Mississippi. (C.P. 1-31) As part of the Microsoft Settlement Agreement, private attorneys hired as special counsel by the Attorney General negotiated for the transfer of \$10,000,000.00 from the settlement proceeds into their private trust account. (C.P. 12) As set forth below, Miss. Code Ann. § 7-5-7 precludes outside counsel from negotiating and receiving their fees in such a manner when they are employed by the State of Mississippi.

The issues here originate from another lawsuit now pending before the Mississippi Supreme Court - The State of Mississippi and Stacey Pickering in his capacity as Auditor for the State of Mississippi v. The Langston Law Firm, P.A., Joseph C. Langston, and Timothy R. Balducci, No. 2010-CA-00362 (hereinafter "Langston"). (C.P. 147-53) On December 20, 2007, the State Auditor had instituted Langston seeking the return of attorneys' fees negotiated and paid by Worldcom to

private counsel during the settlement of unpaid state taxes.<sup>1</sup> On December 4, 2008, the Attorney General had entered his appearance in *Langston* and submitted his own motion for summary judgment for resolution therein of the same issues now pending before this Court in both causes of action. (C.P. 245-59, 260-61, 284)

On June 18, 2009, while *Langston* was pending review in the Circuit Court of Hinds County, Mississippi, the State Auditor learned of the Microsoft Settlement Agreement. Consistent with *Langston*, the State Auditor made formal demand from outside counsel representing the State for return of the Microsoft settlement funds. (C.P. 262-63) On January 12, 2010, the State Auditor received a courtesy copy of a Petition to Approve Fees and Overrule Quasi Objection. (C.P. 37-68) On February 5, 2010, the State Auditor filed a Motion to Intervene since the petition sought immediate disbursement of the funds from the private trust account. (C.P. 140-264) The request for intervention was based on Mississippi Code Ann. § 7-7-211(g), which requires the State Auditor to investigate the management of Mississippi public funds and, in the event such public funds have been improperly withheld, misappropriated and/or otherwise illegally spent by a public officer, to commence civil action for the recovery of misspent public funds. (C.P. 140-264) On April 13, 2010, the chancery court granted the Motion to Intervene, finding that the State Auditor had asserted an interest in this cause of action. (C.P. 336-40)

On March 23, 2010, the State Auditor had already filed a Motion for Disbursement of Settlement Funds to the State of Mississippi and Response in Opposition to Petition to Approve Fees and Overrule Quasi-Objection. (C.P. 265-303) On April 28, 2010, the chancery court entered its Order and Opinion, denying the State Auditor's request for disbursement of the funds to the State of Mississippi and ordering that the disputed settlement funds be distributed directly to outside

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The taxes were pursued in bankruptcy court in the case styled *In re Worldcom, Inc., et al.*, Case No. 02-13533 (AJG), in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York.

counsel representing the State of Mississippi. (C.P. 341-47) On May 24, 2010, the State Auditor filed his Notice of Appeal to this Court. (C.P. 348-50)

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mississippi Code Ann. § 7-5-7 provides that private attorneys hired as special counsel to the Attorney General "shall be paid out of the attorney general's contingent fund, or out of any other funds appropriated to the attorney general's office." There is no dispute in this case that special counsel hired to assist the State of Mississippi with claims against Microsoft Corporation were not paid from the attorney general's contingent fund or other legislative appropriation. Special counsel in this case instead arranged for the deposit of \$10 million of the State's settlement funds into a private trust account in Houston, Texas for their own compensation. Strict interpretation of Mississippi Code Ann. § 7-5-7 prohibited their conversion of these funds without legislative oversight or appropriation.

The chancery court's reliance on Miss. Code Ann. § 7-5-5 as support for outside counsel's receipt of these funds was misplaced. The discretion afforded the Attorney General therein as to compensation of his staff concerns attorneys working on a full-time basis in the Attorney General's Office. There is no dispute here that outside counsel were hired pursuant to Miss. Code. § 7-5-7 which provides for specific sources of compensation. This case concerns outside counsel from private law firms with separate ongoing practices hired on a part-time basis by the Attorney General solely for the purpose of handling the case against Microsoft Corporation. They must be paid from the attorney general's contingent fund, or out of any other funds appropriated to the attorney general's office.

Special counsel's personal trust account in Houston, Texas is not the "contingent fund" referenced in Miss. Code Ann. § 7-5-7. Pursuant to its definition alone, a "contingent fund" is not the same thing as the "contingency fee" argued as the basis for special counsel's deposit of funds into

a private trust account. Miss. Code Ann. § 7-5-61 "requires the Attorney General to maintain financial records 'from whatever source, including appropriations by the Legislature, the contingent fund, and other funds,'" and "shall deposit all funds received by his office in a state depository in his name as attorney general of the state of Mississippi . . ." Based on this statute, the Attorney General is required by law to have record of an actual "contingent fund" residing in a state depository in his name. The Attorney General produced no financial records and certainly no evidence that these attorneys were paid from that state "contingent fund" identified by statute or any other legislative appropriation.

The Mississippi Consumer Protection Act provides no basis for the transfer of \$10 million from the settlement funds into a private trust account. The disputed funds were not civil penalties but instead settlement funds paid to the State of Mississippi without any admission of liability by Microsoft.

Illegal provisions of a contract cannot be enforced as a matter of public policy. The provision of the Microsoft Settlement Agreement directing that \$10 million from the settlement funds be deposited into a private trust account was prohibited by Miss. Code Ann. § 7-5-7, and therefore, void as a matter of public policy. In this same respect, the Retention Agreement's failure to require that any compensation of outside counsel be from legislative appropriation is fatal to it as well.

The Mississippi Supreme Court already resolved this issue in favor of the State Auditor's position in *Pursue Energy Corporation v. Mississippi State Tax Commission*, 816 So.2d 385 (Miss. 2002). In reaching that decision, the Mississippi Supreme Court relied upon the sworn testimony of the Attorney General who explained that the proper legal procedure for compensating private special counsel requires that all settlement funds negotiated for and on behalf of the State of Mississippi be tendered to the State of Mississippi followed by private counsel's application to the legislature for appropriation of fees. Private counsel in *Pursue Energy* expressly modified their

retention agreements to provide for legislative review so as to pass the scrutiny of the Mississippi Supreme Court under Miss. Code. Ann. § 7-5-7. Strict interpretation of Miss. Code Ann. § 7-5-7 is consistent with the constitutional right and duty of the legislative branch of government to control the public treasury. Accordingly, the decision of the Chancery Court of Hinds County, Mississippi should be REVERSED and RENDERED.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### Standard of Review

Judicial review of the applicability and effect of statutory law first requires a determination of whether the statute in question is ambiguous. Mississippi Power Co. v. Jones, 369 So. 2d 1381, 1388 (Miss. 1979). Where the language used by the legislature in a statute is plain and unambiguous and conveys a clear directive, there is no occasion to resort to rules of statutory construction. Miss Power Co. v. Jones, 369 So. 2d 1381, 1388 (Miss. 1979); Forman v. Carter, 269 So.2d 865 (Miss. 1972); State v. Heard, 246 Miss. 774, 151 So.2d 417 (1963); Harrison County School District v. Long Beach School District 700 So. 2d 286, 288-89 (Miss. 1997). Whether or not there is ambiguity, the ultimate guiding factor in the interpretation of a statute is to discern and give effect to legislative intent. Anderson v. Lambert, 494 So. 2d 270, 372 (Miss. 1986). It is a fundamental rule of statutory construction in Mississippi that use of the word "shall" establishes an absolute requirement under the applicable statute. Division of Medicaid v. Mississippi Independent Pharmacies Ass'n, 20 So. 3d 1236, 1239 (Miss. 2009). Statutory interpretation and other questions of law are reviewed de novo by the Mississippi Supreme Court. Powe v. Byrd, 892 So.2d 223, 227 (Miss. 2004); Arceo v. Tolliver, 19 So. 3d 67, 70 (Miss. 2009); Sheppard v. Miss. State Highway Patrol, 693 So.2d 1326, 1328 (Miss. 1997).

# I. Strict interpretation of Miss. Code Ann. § 7-5-7 prohibited the diversion of \$10 million from the State's settlement with Microsoft without legislative appropriation.

Mississippi Code Ann. § 7-5-7 provides the following with regard to the employment and payment of special counsel by the Attorney General:

### § 7-5-7. Special counsel and investigators.

The governor may engage counsel to assist the attorney general in cases to which the state is a party when, in his opinion, the interest of the state requires it, subject to the action of the legislature in providing compensation for such services.

The attorney general is hereby authorized and empowered to appoint and employ special counsel, on a fee or salary basis, to assist the attorney general in the preparation for, prosecution, or defense of any litigation in the state or federal courts or before any federal commission or agency in which the state is a party or has an interest.

The attorney general may designate such special counsel as special assistant attorney general, and may pay such special counsel reasonable compensation to be agreed upon by the attorney general and such special counsel, in no event to exceed recognized bar rates for similar services.

The attorney general may also employ special investigators on a per diem or salary basis, to be agreed upon at the time of employment, for the purpose of interviewing witnesses, ascertaining facts, or rendering any other services that may be needed by the attorney general in the preparation for and prosecution of suits by or against the state of Mississippi, or in suits in which the attorney general is participating on account of same being of statewide interest.

The attorney general may pay travel and other expenses of employees and appointees made hereunder in the same manner and amount as authorized by law for the payment of travel and expenses of state employees and officials.

The compensation of appointees and employees made hereunder shall be paid out of the attorney general's contingent fund, or out of any other funds appropriated to the attorney general's office.

(emphasis added).

The Attorney General hired outside counsel to assist with the prosecution of claims against Microsoft Corporation. In their negotiation of the Microsoft Settlement Agreement, it is undisputed that outside counsel arranged for the deposit of \$10,000,000.00 of the settlement funds into a private trust account, instead of seeking payment of its legal fees from the Attorney General's contingent

fund or any other funds appropriated or approved by the Mississippi Legislature as required by Miss. Code Ann. § 7-5-7. The Microsoft Settlement Agreement provided the following:

- B. <u>Initial Cash Payments</u>. Within ten (10) days after the End of the Appeal Period, Microsoft shall:
  - 1. pay to the State of Mississippi \$28 million in cash, which amount shall not be affected by the total amount of vouchers claimed by Eligible Purchasers; and
  - 2. pay to the State of Mississippi an additional \$22 million in cash as a nonrefundable credit against the Reversion to be paid in accordance with Section IV.D below; in the event the total value of the Reversion as determined in accordance with Section IV.C. 7 below is less than \$22 million, the State shall not be required to refund any portion of the \$22 million credit described in this Section IV.B.2:<sup>2</sup>
  - 3. the payments described in this Section IV.B shall be distributed by Microsoft as follows: (a) \$40 million shall be paid into an account designated by Plaintiff and controlled by the State of Mississippi, and (b) \$10 million shall be paid to Susman Godfrey LLP Multi-Client Account, JPMorgan Chase Bank of Texas, 712 Main, 2nd Floor East, Houston, TX77002, ABA #021000021, Account #00103347069.

## (C.P. 12)(emphasis added). 3

It is clear from these payment provisions that all of the initial \$50,000,000.00 paid by Microsoft for release of liability constituted public funds to be paid "to the State of Mississippi." (C.P. 12) Without stating that any of this \$50 million were attorneys' fees, the agreement simply directed that \$10 million of these settlement funds be deposited into a private trust account controlled by outside counsel. Mississippi Code Ann. § 7-5-7 does not permit outside counsel for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> It is understood that from the \$60 million in vouchers made available to the public under this agreement, approximately \$2.5 million was actually paid by Microsoft before the time for redemption had expired.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> It is noted that Microsoft also considered all such payments to be for and on behalf of the State of Mississippi since the Microsoft Settlement Agreement expressly provided that "Microsoft played no part in negotiating the fees and expenses to be paid to plaintiff's counsel and takes no position as to whether those fees and expenses are reasonable or appropriate." (C.P. 92)

the State of Mississippi to retain settlement funds for their own personal use.<sup>4</sup> The diversion of funds in this manner violated the clear and unambiguous terms of Mississippi Code Ann. § 7-5-7 and all the legislative safeguards intended by this statute.

Where the language used by the legislature in a statute is plain and unambiguous and conveys a clear directive, it must be strictly construed. *Miss Power Co. v. Jones*, 369 So. 2d 1381, 1388 (Miss. 1979); *Forman v. Carter*, 269 So.2d 865 (Miss. 1972); *State v. Heard*, 246 Miss. 774, 151 So.2d 417 (1963); *Harrison County School District v. Long Beach School District* 700 So. 2d 286, 288-89 (Miss. 1997). Pursuant to the plain and unambiguous terms of Mississippi Code Ann. § 7-5-7, compensation of these special assistants "shall" be paid directly from the attorney general's contingent fund or out of funds appropriated to his office. It is a fundamental rule of statutory interpretation in Mississippi that "shall" means absolutely mandatory. *Franklin v. Franklin*, 858 So. 2d 110, 115 (Miss. 2003). Strict interpretation of Miss. Code Ann. § 7-5-7 requires the return of these funds to the State of Mississippi to which whey were expressly payable under the Microsoft Settlement Agreement.

All of the funds paid by Microsoft were paid as the result of a lawsuit and settlement with the State of Mississippi. In *Nixon v. American Tobacco Co.*, 34 S.W.3d 122 (Mo. 2001), special counsel to the Missouri Attorney General sought to avoid judicial review by suggesting that compensation from settlement funds did not constitute public money. In recognizing the shallowness of this argument, the Court concluded as follows:

[W]e find Respondents' argument unpersuasive, as it relies on an elusive shell game that misdirects the nature of the attorney fees. While it is true that these funds do not originate in the state treasury, our analysis does not end there. Instead, we look to the method by which parties settle disputes. When considering whether to make an offer to settle, a litigant establishes a monetary amount that reflects, among numerous

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Although reasonableness of the fees is an issue for the Legislature to resolve during the appropriations process required by Miss. Code Ann. § 7-5-7, it is noted that the Retention Agreement provides for different percentages based on the amounts of recovery. (C.P. 69-74)

other factors, both his potential loss should he continue litigation and the risk that he may not succeed on the merits. This adjusted figure represents that litigant's maximum settlement price. Once the litigant has negotiated a settlement amount he finds favorable, it is of absolutely no consequence to him how the settlement is divided among various parties.

We view with suspicion Respondents' contention that theses attorneys fees are not state funds for purposes of justiciability. We find that to characterize these funds as wholly private funds places form before substance, as it is these parties that negotiated the funds in this manner. . . for purposes of justiciability, it suffices to point out that the tobacco companies would owe Strong nothing if he were not representing the State of Missouri as to the merits of the controversy between the State and the tobacco defendants. For this reason, justiciability is established and we address the merits.

As also expressly recognized by the Nixon Court,

There is a potential danger in an agreement where a plaintiff's attorney's fee is to be paid by defendants. The danger is that the lawyer's own interest will prevail over the client's- or to put it another way, that the lawyer might be unduly influenced by an oversized fee to recommend an inadequate settlement for the client.

Nixon, 34S.W.3d at 135.

Requiring legislative review of the attorney fee through the legislative appropriation mandated by Miss. Code Ann. § 7-5-7 ensures that all such dangers and potential violations are properly addressed before payment of outside counsel.<sup>5</sup> That was obviously the intent of this statute. The ultimate guiding factor in the interpretation of a statute is to discern and give effect to legislative intent. *Anderson v. Lambert*, 494 So. 2d 270, 372 (Miss. 1986).

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