IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2010-CA-00881

STACEY PICKERING, in his capacity as Auditor for THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANT

VS.

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL *ex rel.* STATE OF MISSISSIPPI and MICROSOFT CORPORATION

APPELLEES/ CROSS-APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

BRIEF OF APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL *ex rel.* THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

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

In addition to the foregoing reasons why the trial court's judgment was correct, the Auditor waived his right to challenge the Settlement Agreement. "Waiver is a voluntary relinquishment of some known right, benefit or advantage." *Sentinel Indus. Contracting Corp. v. Kimmins Indus. Serv. Corp.*, 743 So. 2d 954, 964 (Miss. 1999). It can be established by a pattern of conduct. *Eastline Corp. v. Marion Apartments, Ltd.*, 524 So. 2d 582, 584 (Miss. 1988); *Mariana v. Hennington*, 90 So. 2d 356, 361-63 (Miss. 1956). *See also Turner v. Wakefield*, 481 So. 2d 846, 848-49 (Miss. 1985).

In order to avoid waiver, if the Auditor believed the settlement agreement was improper, then he should have challenged the agreement when it was before the Chancery Court for approval on June 11, 2009. He did not. The Auditor was on notice of the pending settlement. Instead of challenging it, the Auditor simply wrote a letter to counsel. [June 18, 2009 Letter, C.P. 137-39]. The Settlement Agreement was approved on June 11, 2009. [Order Approving Settlement Agreement, C.P. 1-36 & Appellant R.E. 2]. The Auditor has even acknowledged to the Court that he learned of the final Settlement Agreement no later June 18, 2009. [Appellant's Brief at p. 3]. Indeed, his June 18, 2009 letter to retained counsel explained "...the Office of the State Auditor has recently been made aware of the settlement negotiated between Microsoft Corporation and the State of Mississippi. A copy of the executed 'Settlement Agreement' between the parties has been reviewed by this Office." [June 18, 2009 Letter, C.P. 137-39]. By the time the Auditor sought to intervene in the case nearly seven months later, on February 5, 2010, it was too late. [Motion to Intervene, C.P. 140-264]. As such, he has waived any right to challenge the settlement agreement.

Furthermore, as for the Retention Agreement between the Attorney General and retained counsel, the Auditor did not make any argument in the court below that it is somehow void. [See Auditor's Motion for Disbursement of Funds, C.P. 265-303]. Accordingly, he is barred from raising the issue for the first time on this appeal. See, e.g., Crosswhite v. Golman, 939 So. 2d 831, 833 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (appellant barred from raising issue on appeal not raised below).

Even assuming that the issue could be raised here, the Auditor has been aware of the Retention Agreement even longer than the Settlement Agreement. The Retention Agreement was executed in 2004 and has been posted on the Attorney General's website for years. By failing to challenge the Retention Agreement, the Auditor has waived any right to do so for the same reasons he should not be permitted to challenge the Settlement Agreement. *See Sentinel Indus.*, 743 So. 2d at 964.¹⁰

¹⁰ Additionally, because the Auditor is seeking relief from the Chancery Court's judgment approving the Settlement Agreement, that judgment may only be modified under Miss. R. Civ. P. 60(b). Subsections (1)-(3) do not apply because the Auditor did not challenge the judgment within six months. None of the other subsections apply here either. There are no valid reasons to deem the judgment void under subsection (4), subsection (5) does not apply according to its terms, and this case does not present "extraordinary or compelling" circumstances under subsection (6). Accordingly, there is no available procedural basis on which the Auditor can challenge the Chancery Court's judgment and his action should

D. The Auditor has no Remedy under Constitutional or Mississippi Contract Law.

Judgment was also properly entered against the Auditor because – in addition to all the reasons discussed above that his arguments are meritless – the relief sought is unsupported by general Mississippi contract law and would violate the constitutional prohibition on impairment of contracts. As such, the Auditor has no viable remedy. Again, the trial court may be affirmed on any grounds offered on appeal by the Appellee and sufficient to sustain the judgment below. *See McDaniel*, 938 So. 2d at 247; *Ferguson*, 448 So. 2d at 275. No provisions of the Settlement Agreement or Retention Agreement should be voided. Furthermore, it would violate retained counsel's constitutional rights to pay them less than the parties agreed or divest them of fees that are their property.

1. No Contract Provisions are Void.

It is true that courts may void provisions of a contract that are illegal or contrary to public policy. But that general proposition should not be used to create the result the Auditor seeks in this case for at least two reasons. The Auditor's argument that "no court will lend its aid to a litigant who bases his cause on an illegal act" is misleading. [Appellant's Brief at p. 15]. First, the authorities he cites are not on point. *See Price v. Purdue Pharma Co.*, 920 So. 2d 479, 484 (Miss. 2006) (holding plaintiff could not maintain action for damages based on addiction to controlled substance he illegally obtained); *Morrissey v. Bologna*, 123 So. 2d 537, 542-43 (Miss. 1960) (holding securities for debt based upon sales of illegal liquor void); and *Lowenberg v. Klein*, 87 So. 653, 654-55 (Miss. 1921) (holding party could not sue for debt based upon illegal liquor transaction). The instant case does not involve criminal statutes relating to illegal drugs, or illegal (at those times) liquor sales

be dismissed for this reason as well.

where the statutes at issue specifically voided such sales. There was no "illegal" act committed by retained counsel or the Attorney General.

Furthermore, in all of the Mississippi authority cited by the Auditor, the alleged wrongdoer was seeking to *enforce* a contract or assert a legal right. Voidability was a defense to the action, not a right of action to be asserted by a stranger to a contract. None of the parties to the contracts here are seeking to void any of their provisions.

Second, the applicable principle is that contracts which merely conflict with statutory procedural requirements are <u>not</u> void. *Seymour v. Evans*, 608 So. 2d 1141, 1145-46 (Miss. 1992). In *Seymour*, several plaintiffs bought properties and later attempted to make improvements on their parcels. *Id.* at 1142. They were denied a permit because the land had not been subdivided consistent with county ordinances. *Id.* Plaintiffs sued the seller and others claiming the conveyances were void due to the seller's violation of the ordinances. *Id.* The trial court granted relief and voided the transactions. *Id.*

On appeal, a unanimous Court reversed and rendered the trial court's judgment. *Id.* at 1148. As to the plaintiffs' voidability argument, the Court reasoned the deeds were "valid and enforceable so long as the ordinances they are alleged to violate regulate actions which are merely malum in prohibitum." *Id.* at 1146. As long as the seller's acts were not "inherently evil," the deal was valid. *Id.*

In this case, the parties' actions were consistent with – at the very least – a permissible construction of the Attorney General's authority under Mississippi law. There certainly was not anything "inherently evil" in obtaining millions of dollars for the State or Microsoft's agreement to

39

pay retained counsel's attorneys' fees. As such, there are no valid grounds to void the Settlement Agreement or the Retention Agreement based on "illegality."

2. The Auditor's Proposed Relief Would Violate Constitutional and Contract Law.

The Auditor's complaints are also entirely misplaced, and his proposed remedy would cause the State severe monetary damage, for the following reason. If the contingency fee funds are taken by the Auditor and handed to the Legislature, then the Legislature must turn right back around and pay *all* the money back to the outside counsel. There can be no discretion in the matter; neither the Auditor nor the Legislature are authorized to breach the contingency fee contract. To the extent the Auditor intends that retained counsel be paid less than what was contracted after "running it by" the Legislature and a Governor's veto, that would trample on retained counsel's constitutional property rights.

This is so because the Constitution prevents the State from breaching its contracts without recourse. In *Franklin v. Ellis*, the trial court enjoined commissioners of the Yazoo-Mississippi Delta levee district from paying the salaries of employees of the levee board. 130 Miss. 164, 39 So. 738 (1920). The salaries were to be paid under two-year contracts entered into by the board. *Id.* at 183. Subsequently, the Legislature changed the number of, and salaries to be paid to, board employees. *Id.* The trial court's injunction blocked payments to the employees in the amounts contracted for prior to the Legislature's action. *Id.* at 184. On appeal, the trial court's ruling was reversed and rendered because the Legislature could not validly force a breach of the employees' contracts without violating the Constitutional bar to impairment of contracts. *Id.* at 188. *See also* U.S. CONST., art. 1, § 10; MISS. CONST., art. 3, § 5; *Hall v. Wisconsin*, 103 U.S. 5, 7, 25 L.Ed. 302 (1880) (holding

legislative act nullifying contract for services between private party and government produced unconstitutional result); *Tucker Printing Co. v. Attala County Bd. of Supervisors*, 171 Miss. 608, 158 So. 336 (1934) (reasoning that subsequent legislative action could not undo contract and relieve board of supervisors of obligation to pay for materials previously purchased by it).

Here, if retained counsel's money was diverted to the Legislature, then the State could suffer more protracted litigation and the same problem presented in *Franklin*. The State could not renege on the contract by failing to appropriate the money or passing some other law. In short, if the Auditor could somehow reclaim the money paid to retained counsel by Microsoft, then the Legislature would simply have to repay every penny of it, and likely more, to retained counsel. Any other action would violate constitutional law. Thus, the Auditor's proposed remedy is as empty as the reasoning it is founded upon.

Additionally, the Auditor's challenge to the agreements, if allowed, would cost the State 40 to 50 million dollars. With respect to the Settlement Agreement, the Auditor claims that the contract's provision for Microsoft to pay outside counsel's contingency fees and expenses is void. According to the Auditor, he would re-claim that money – and only that money – and deliver it to the Legislature to be disbursed. But that is not what the Settlement Agreement says will happen if any of its terms are undone.

Under the terms of the Settlement Agreement, if the trial court's approval of the settlement is "modified, reversed, or set aside," then the entire agreement is a nullity. Specifically, the agreement states that

<u>Effect of Disapproval</u>: If the Court for any reason (1) determines not to approve this Settlement Agreement; (2) does not enter the Order Approving Settlement and Release and Entering Final Judgment substantially in the form of Appendix B hereto; or (3) if the Court's approval or judgment is modified, reversed, or set aside on appeal, then the Settlement Agreement terminates and becomes null and void except as otherwise provided herein.

[Settlement Agreement at p.5, C.P. 6-36 & Appellant R.E. 2]. If the Auditor voids Microsoft's agreement to pay retained counsel directly under the Settlement Agreement or retained counsel's right to retain those funds under the Retention Agreement, then it would also nullify all other aspects of the settlement by the very terms of the Settlement Agreement. Putting aside any other potential consequences, Microsoft would get all the money back, *i.e.*, in excess of \$60 million.

CROSS-APPEAL

As an alternative ground to reach the correct result at the end of the day, the Attorney General cross-appeals from the trial court's order improperly allowing the Auditor to intervene in the trial court. [Order Granting Intervention, C.P. 336-40 & Appellant R.E. 3].

I. The Auditor's Intervention was Untimely.

For the reasons that follow, the trial court erred when it allowed the Auditor to intervene in this action. The trial court allowed the Auditor to intervene pursuant to Rule of Civil Procedure 24(a)(2), Intervention of Right, and explained

"that (1) [t]he would be intervenor must make a timely application; (2) [h]e must have an interest in the subject matter of the action; (3) [h]e must be situated that disposition of the action may 'as a practical matter' impair or impede his ability to protect his interest; and (4) [h]is interests must not already be adequately represented by existing parties."

[*Id.* at p. 2 (citing *Guaranty National Ins. v. Pittman*, 501 So.2d 377, 381 (Miss. 1987))]. However, the trial court only addressed and relied upon the first prong of Rule 24(a)(2). It did not articulate any findings under the other factors. Upon a complete Rule 24(a)(2) analysis, the Auditor's motion for intervention should have been denied.

II. The Auditor Should Have Known of his Interest.

The relevant length of time to intervene is measured from the point at which "the would-be intervenor actually knew or reasonably should have known of his interest in the case before he petitioned for leave to intervene. The language [of the rule] is clear that actual knowledge is not required." *Hood*, 958 So.2d at 807-8. In this case, the Auditor knew or reasonably should have known, about his purported interest in this case for more than five years (when the case against Microsoft was filed) before he requested permission to intervene. The Attorney General's filing of the complaint, in August 2004, was a matter of public record and the Retention Agreement was on the Attorney General's website. The Retention Agreement sets out a standard contingent fee arrangement in which retained counsel is paid out of the ultimate recovery, if any, achieved in the lawsuit. The Retention Agreement does not require a special legislative appropriation to pay counsel. The Auditor knew or should have known of the alleged interest he now seeks to protect no later than when the original complaint was filed in August 2004. The Auditor's delay of over five years to attempt to protect his purported interest is inexcusable and his attempted intervention was untimely.

Equally inexcusable is the Auditor's failure to timely challenge the Settlement Agreement itself. The Settlement Agreement was approved by order of the trial court on June 11, 2009. The Auditor's June 18, 2009 letter to retained counsel, Brent Hazzard, acknowledged that the Auditor knew the terms of the Settlement Agreement.¹¹ The letter said: "the Office of the State Auditor has

¹¹ The Settlement Agreement provided the following with respect to Microsoft's payments:

B. <u>Initial Cash Payments</u>. Within ten (10) days after the End of the Appeal Period, Microsoft shall:

^{1.} pay to the State of Mississippi \$28 million in cash, which amount shall not be affected by the total amount of vouchers claimed by Eligible Purchasers; and

^{2.} pay to the State of Mississippi an additional \$22 million in cash as a non-

recently been made aware of the settlement negotiated between Microsoft Corporation and the State of Mississippi. A copy of the executed "Settlement Agreement' between the parties has been reviewed by this Office." [June 18, 2009 Letter, C.P. 137-39]. Moreover, the Auditor also knew of his putative interest, that interest which he claimed to vindicate, long before he sought to intervene. His June 18, 2009 letter revealed he believed any payment to lawyers must be made through special legislative appropriation and that "was clearly not accomplished by the Microsoft Settlement Agreement." [*Id.*].

The Settlement Agreement itself included a mechanism for anyone to come to court and challenge its terms. Indeed, the agreement required that no money would be paid to the State or its lawyers by Microsoft until after the time to challenge the trial court's June 11th order had run or, if challenges were filed, until after those challenges were decided, appealed, and finally resolved by the courts. [Settlement Agreement at pp. 2-3, 7, C.P. 6-36 & Appellant R.E. 2].

Notwithstanding this explicit mechanism to challenge the Settlement Agreement, the Auditor let the time to challenge and appeal the Settlement Agreement pass without filing anything with the trial court. The Auditor has no viable excuse for not intervening during the prescribed appeal period and his belated request to intervene, seven months after the fact, was untimely.

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